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QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Review is  requested  to  clarify  whether  there  is  a  single  deferential

standard  of  appellate  review  for  Sixth  Amendment  claims  arising  under

Batson v. Kentucky  (1986) 476 U.S. 79 or whether appellate courts should apply

review de  novo as  to  those  issues  involving  the  reasonableness  of  stated

justifications for the peremptory excusal of a juror. 
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PETITION  FOR  CERTIORARI

Petitioner,  JESUS MAYA ZAPATA, respectfully petitions for a writ of 

certiorari to review the judgement of the California Court of Appeal, First 

Appellate District, Division Five affirming his conviction & sentence in the 

Superior Court of Los Angeles County, California. 

OPINIONS  BELOW

The  reported  opinion of the California Court of Appeal, First Appellate 

District appears as Appendix A.

The order of the California Supreme Court dismissing the petition for 

review appears as Appendix B.

JURISDICTIONAL  STATEMENT

The judgement of the California Court of Appeal, Second Appellate 

District was entered on 15 December 2021.   A timely petition for review was filed

on  13 January 2022.  The petition was denied on 23 February 2022 .  On request, 

this Court granted an extension to file the petition until 23 July 2022.  The 

jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. section 1257, subd. (a). 

CONSTITUTIONAL  PROVISIONS  INVOLVED

United States Constitution,  Sixth Amendment:

“In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy
and public trial, by an impartial jury of the state and district wherein the crime
shall have been committed, which district shall have been previously ascertained
by law,  and to  be  informed of  the  nature  and cause  of  the  accusation;  to  be
confronted  with  the  witnesses  against  him;  to  have  compulsory  process  for
obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to have the assistance of counsel for his
defense.”
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United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, Section One:

“... No State ... shall abridge the privileges and immunities of citizens of
the United States; nor shall any State deprive a person of life, liberty, or property
without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the
equal protection of the laws. “

FEDERAL STATUTORY  PROVISIONS  INVOLVED

28 U.S.C. § 1257, sub. (a):

Final  judgments  or  decrees  rendered by the highest  court  of  a  State  in
which a decision could be had, may be reviewed by the Supreme Court by writ
of certiorari where the validity of a treaty or statute of the United States is drawn
in question or where the validity of a statute of any State is drawn in question on
the ground of its being repugnant to the Constitution, treaties,  or laws of the
United States, or where any title, right, privilege, or immunity is specially set up
or  claimed  under  the  Constitution  or  the  treaties  or  statutes  of,  or  any
commission held or authority exercised under, the United States. 

RELATED CALIFORNIA STATUTES

(Please see Appendix C)
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STATEMENT  OF  CASE

Petitioner, JESUS MAYA ZAPATA, was tried before a jury and convicted of 

17 sexual offenses involving his stepdaughter over a period of several years 

beginning when she was under ten years of age.  He was sentenced to an 

indeterminate prison term of 75 years to life plus a determinate term of 40 years. 

On appeal, petitioner raised multiple claims of state and federal 

constitutional error, including inter alia, that racio-ethnically motivated 

peremptory challenges had violated his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to a 

jury trial.  On 15 December 2021, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgement 

and sentence.  Petitioner's  petition for review on all alleged errors was denied on

23 February 2022.   On 31 May 2022, upon request, this Court  granted Petitioner 

an extension to file his petition for certiorari until  23  July 2022. 

STATEMENT  OF  FACTS

Petitioner's step-daughter, Jane Doe, testified that, starting when she was 

nine years old, petitioner began to touch her inappropriately.  (RT 68-69, 72-73.)   

Although she could not remember any specific instances (RT 77), Doe testified 

that petitioner then began to engage in vaginal intercourse on a routine basis.  

( RT 75-77.)  According to her, he also engaged in acts of oral copulation and 

sodomy.  (RT 79-81.)   Doe did not tell her mother because her mother always 

took partitioner's side in things. (RT 74.)   Doe stated that, in accomplishing these 

things petitioner would resort to bribes or punishments.  He would offer her 

“money and stuff.” (RT 78) “He would say that he would give me money or let  

me go out with my friends, or convince my mom to let me go out.” (RT 82.)  He 
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would punish her by telling her mother that she was bad.  “He would just either 

take my phone away or my iPod at the time and tell her that I wasn't listening to 

him, and I was just talking back to him and just being bad.” (RT 78, 83)  Once 

when he found her texting her boyfriend, petitioner got angry and pulled her ear.

(RT 83.)  When she was 17, she left home and went to live with her boyfriend. 

(RT 86.)  Prior to petitioner's arrest, the police arranged a pretext call during 

which petitioner obliquely acknowledged having  had sex with Doe. (RT 116-117;

People's Exhibit 1.)  After petitioner's arrest  Doe identified text messages she 

sent to appellant in August of 2016, declining his offer of $100.00 for a “quickie.”  

(RT 87.)  She also identified People's Exhibit No. 5, a picture of appellant's penis 

which he “groomed” in a specifically identifiable way. (RT 88-89.)

At trial the prosecution argued that appellant's sexual acts had been 

accomplished by force, violence, fear or duress because Doe had complied under 

“parental duress.” (RT 185.)  1

1 The prosecution's theory of “parental duress,” meaning  any psychological 
pressure, derived from a judicial gloss on the applicable statutes which added 
“hardship” to the statutory language referencing force or threats of force.  
(People v. Pitmon (1985) 170 Cal.App.3d 38, 49-50;   People v. Leal  (2004) 33 
Cal.4th 999, 1004–1010.)  Accordingly, at trial, the prosecution argued that 
while appellant had never employed force or threats of force, he had resorted 
to “emotional manipulation [which] is exactly what parental duress is about.”  
(RT 186, 213 [italics   added].)   The prosecutor explained that, “[w]e all use a 
form of duress to get our children to comply and do what we want them to do
...   So it's a really an effective tool ...  The defendant understood this technique
and used it to regularly get Jane Doe to submit to him.”  (RT 183-184.)  

On appeal, in addition to the issue raised herein, petitioner asserted claims of 
insufficient evidence of aggravated conduct (Jackson v. Virginia (1979) 443 U.S. 
307) and constitutional ambiguity (“hardship”) under  Sessions v. Dimaya, 
(2018) 584 U.S. ___  [138 S. Ct. 1204],  both of which claims were denied. 
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REASONS  FOR  GRANTING  WRIT

I
REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO DETERMINE WHETHER,

IN REVIEWING A CLAIM ARISING UNDER BATSON V. KENTUCKY, ON
DIRECT APPEAL, THE COURT SHOULD EMPLOY A SINGLE AND

DEFERENTIAL STANDARD OF REVIEW APPLICABLE TO ALL ASPECTS
OF THE “CREDIBILITY DETERMINATION” IN PHASE THREE OF THE

BATSON PROCEDURE OR WHETHER IT SHOULD EMPLOY A DE NOVO
STANDARD OF REVIEW TO THOSE ASPECTS OF THE CASE THAT

INVOLVE THE “REASONABLENESS” OF THE JUSTIFICATIONS
PROFERRED FOR THE JUROR'S EXCUSAL

A. Relevant Facts.

During voir dire, defense counsel objected to the prosecution's peremptory

excusal of  Ms. Hernandez, a Latina woman and the last Hispanic on the panel. 

(ART 357-358.)2  On being asked for her justifications, the prosecutor stated that 

she had “multiple reasons” for excusing Ms. Hernandez.   According to the 

prosecutor, “in a long explanation at the end of her questionnaire,” Ms. 

Hernandez had recounted how she had been arrested for an assault against her 

mother but had all charges dropped when it was discovered that she been the 

victim of child abuse.” (Augmented RT 358.)   The prosecutor continued, “She 

goes on to discuss that police officers and law enforcement were kind to her 

during that situation.· However, for me, having a previous arrest is a red flag as a

juror.” (Ibid.)

In addition, Ms. Hernandez had been on a civil jury and sided with a 

person on welfare who was being evicted.  According to the prosecutor, “this 

2 Four other Hispanics had been challenged by the defense.
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show[ed] a tendency to side with the underdog.”  (1 Augmented RT 359.)

Lastly, Ms. Hernandez, at 23,  was “very young” and came across “as less 

mature than the other jurors, not having a lot of broad life experience that I think 

would be necessary to be a fair juror in this case.” (Ibid.)

The trial judge denied appellant's motion stating, “I will say, my 

observations of her were also that she was very immature.· She was giggling.· 

She took up a lot of time with her answers and did seem somewhat enthusiastic 

and anxious to serve as a juror.· But, at any rate, the motion is denied.”  (Ibid.)

B. Contentions on Appeal.

The use of peremptory challenges by a prosecutor to strike prospective 

jurors on the basis of specified group memberships violates (1) a defendant's 

right to equal protection of the laws under the Fourteenth Amendment (Batson v. 

Kentucky, supra 476 U.S. 79 [African-Americans] and (2) a juror’s equal protection 

and due process right to participate in jury service (Edmonson v. Leesville Concrete 

Co. (1991) 500 U.S 614) which a defendant has standing to vindicate (Powers v. 

Ohio (1991) 499 U.S. 400, 414).  Batson's rule was subsequently extended to 

hispanics, women and other minorities (Hernandez v. New York (1991) 500 U.S. 352

[Hispanics]; J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B. (1994) 511 U.S. 127 [gender].)   The 

procedure Batson established for evaluating objections at trial to the use of a 

peremptory challenge is well known and need not be instructed to this Court. 

(see Batson v. Kentucky, supra, 476 U.S., at pp. 94-98; Johnson v. California (2005) 545

U.S. 162, 168.)   This case concerns the so-called Third Stage and appellate review 

thereof.

6



When, upon challenge, the trial court has found a prima facie case of 

discrimination, and when the prosecution has provided a so-called “race-

neutral”3 reason for the excusal,  it then becomes the trial court's task 

“to assess the plausibility of that reason in light of all evidence with a bearing on 

it.” (Miller-El v. Dretke (2005) 545 U.S. 231, 252 [italics added].)    In making this 

determination this Court has instructed that:

“the court must weigh among other factors, the prosecutor’s demeanor; [] 
how reasonable, or how improbable, the explanations are; and whether the 
proffered rationale has some basis in accepted trial strategy.” (Miller–El v. 
Cockrell (2003) 537 U.S. 322, 338-339 [italics added]; see People v. Lenix 
(2008) 44 Cal.4th 602, 613 [quoting].) 

On appeal, petitioner herein argued that the reasons the prosecutor gave 

were demonstrably unreasonable and made no sense given the facts established 

at voir dire or given well accepted trial strategy.  In particular,    

 While Hernandez's arrest without more might be a signal (“red light”) of 

hostility to the  prosecution,  Hernandez had been cleared of the charges and, as 

the prosecutor acknowledged, she had explained on her questionnaire that  her 

experience with the police had been “positive”  and that they  “have been very 

patient [?] and helpful to me in the past. Was taken in handcuffs for my own 

protection from abuse.”  (2 Augmented CT 475.)  To ignore half of  Hernandez's 

response was utterly arbitrary and implied a pretextual motive.  

Likewise, the proffered excuse that Hernandez   “show[ed] a tendency to 

3 The term “race-neutral” is understood to mean a justification that does not 
resort to racial, ethnic, or sexual stereotypes. (See e.g. J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. 
T.B, supra, 511 U.S. 127.
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side with the underdog” was a double absurdity.   In the first place, the entirety 

of the prosecution's case was based on the alleged use of “parental duress” 

against a minor for sexual purposes. (See footnote 2, supra.)  In terms of equities 

and trial dynamics, the prosecution was not representing the police or the “state”

but the archetypical underdog -- a dependent child under fourteen years.  By any

reasonable trial strategy, Hernandez's “tendency to side with the underdog” was 

an asset to the prosecution.   Secondly, the incident which had led to Hernandez's

initial arrest showed that she herself had been a victim of parental abuse, albeit 

non-sexual.   Lastly, the notion that someone who had returned a verdict in favor 

of a tenant would be hostile to the prosecution of a case of child abuse was a  

non-sequitur.  Even more so, when Hernandez's account of the trial is taken into 

consideration.  According to Hernandez, “There was miscommunication with the

landlord about -- the tenant was Section 8 -- and the landlord was increasing the 

rent. ... But the tenant was, like, You never gave me any notification.· It turns out 

that her paperwork was very disorganized and she was a very passive landlord.· 

So at the end of the day --”  (Augmented RT 337.)  This account reflected no 

partiality to tenants or hostility to landlords.  In fact, it betrayed a degree of 

sympathy for the latter.  However, the prosecution's non-sequitur was infused 

with precisely those generic stereotypes, explicitly condemned in Batson, that 

because a juror is black or brown he or she therefore harbors group biases or acts 

in a predictable fashion. (Batson, supra, at p. 97.)

Lastly, the excuse that Hernandez was  “young” and did not have a lot of 

“broad life experience” that “would be necessary to be a fair juror in this case” 
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does not withstand scrutiny.  Where it mattered -- child abuse -- Hernandez had 

plenty of life experience; more so in fact than older jurors who had never 

suffered abuse or who had never had personal experience in the criminal justice 

system.   In fact,  Hernandez had experience not only as the vindicated victim in 

a criminal case but also as a juror in a civil case, where she had been elected 

foreperson by fellow jurors who evidently did not think she was too 

inexperienced.  During voir dire the following colloquy with the prosecutor took 

place, 

Q.· ·You have had some positive experiences with law         
       enforcement?  
A.· ·Yes. · · 
Q.· ·Are you comfortable still judging a law enforcement
       officer as  one  testifies just the same as any other witness?

 · · A.· ·Yes.· They're all human.· Everyone makes mistakes. 
(1 Aug. RT 337.)

When subsequently asked how she would handle a jury split, Hernandez 

replied 

“Well, it definitely is that you would try to reevaluate the situation.· 
So definitely I would try to evaluate the situation, okay, what do I 
have?· Maybe I'm wrong.· So I would try to reevaluate the evidence 
in front of me.· And, I don't know, I guess it depends on the evidence
if I would change it or not.” (1 Aug. RT 343.)

At this point, Hernandez unmistakably sounded like the instruction given 

upon a jury deadlock. (See Calcrim No. 3551 [“...Do not hesitate to reexamine 

your own views. Fair and effective jury deliberations require frank and forthright

exchange of views. ...”].) 

Asked about the civil case she had participated in, Hernandez related the 
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facts previously noted.  Asked how she felt about that jury experience, 

Hernandez replied,

“I loved it.· I've never been a juror before then. That was 2 or 3 years 
ago and I was excited.· This is great, I get to be part of the process.· I 
learned so much about it, especially for rights for tenants, things like
that.· I had a good experience with that.”  (1 Aug. RT 337-338.)

To which the prosecutor replied, “That's so nice to hear.· Again, we don't hear 

that very often.” (Ibid.)  It was plain that Hernandez did not lack sufficient broad

based experience to be a juror on the instant case.  

“The prosecution's proffer of th[ese] pretextual explanation[s] naturally 

gives rise to an inference of discriminatory intent.” (Snyder v. Lousiana (2008) 552 

U.S. 472,  487, fn.1;  citing Miller–El v. Dretke, supra, 545 U.S., at p., 277.)

In addition, a comparative juror analysis4 showed that the prosecution had 

excused jurors who had negative experiences with law enforcement (juror nos. 

47, 33, 8 at 1 Aug CT  162-163, 280, 310, 523; 2 Aug CT 369)  and had accepted 

non-Hispanics   who either had had positive experiences with law enforcement 

or had expressed interest in or partiality towards children's rights organizations  

(juror nos. 57, 79 and 90 at 1 Aug. CT 78, 81, 87, 90, 104).

The trial judge never actually made a finding on the subjective issue of the 

prosecutor's intent.  Instead, it offered its own reasons why it felt Hernandez was 

unsuited to be a juror.  The first of these was the claim that Hernandez was 

“immature” in that she giggled.  (1ART 359)   The second court-offered 

4 See Flowers v. Mississippi (2019) 588 U.S. ___, [139 S. Ct. 2228] at pp. 2235; Foster
v. Chatman (2016) 578 U. S. ___, slip 11 [136 S.Ct. 1737]; Snyder, supra, 552 U.S. 
472, at  pp. 483–484; Dretke, supra, 545 U.S. at p.241.) 
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justification was that  Hernandez took up a lot of time with her answers and 

seemed “ enthusiastic and anxious to serve as a juror.” (Ibid.)   The prosecution 

never proffered these justifications.  It did not state that Hernandez was 

emotionally immature, but rather that she was immature in the sense of lacking 

“broad life experience.”  In ruling on the motion before it, the trial judge's abused

its discretion.  While a trial judge can certainly confirm  observations and 

arguments relied upon by the prosecutor, it was not proper for the judge to 

supply reasons that the prosecutor herself had not advanced.  Because the trial 

court offered reasons of its own that were separate and additional to those 

advanced by the prosecutor, it cannot be deemed to have actually ruled on the 

issue before it; namely, the prosecutor's own discriminatory intent.  At best, the 

court simply rubber stamped the prosecution's denial.  Nevertheless, assuming 

arguendo that the judge's remarks were merely “confirmatory” in nature, they 

made no more sense than the prosecutor's pretexts.

The Court of Appeal affirmed, stating it reviewed the trial court's ruling 

for substantial evidence and that “[w]e are required to defer to the trial court so 

long as it undertook a  ' sincere and reasoned effort' to evaluate the prosecutor's 

explanations.“ (Opn. p. 18, citing People v. Huggins (2006) 38 Cal4th 175, 227 

[multiple quote marks omitted].)   In coming to this conclusion the Court of 

Appeal relied on People v. Lenix, supra, 44 Cal.4th 602, in which the California 

Supreme  Court   has instructed, 

“Review of a trial court’s denial of a Wheeler/Batson motion is deferential, 
examining only whether substantial evidence supports its conclusions. 
(People v. Bonilla [(2007)] 41 Cal.4th [313], 341-342.) We review a trial court’s
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determination regarding the sufficiency of a prosecutor’s justifications for 
exercising peremptory challenges  'with great restraint.' [Citation.] We 
presume that a prosecutor uses peremptory challenges in a constitutional 
manner and give great deference to the trial court’s ability to distinguish 
bona fide reasons from sham excuses. [Citation.] So long as the trial court 
makes a sincere and reasoned effort to evaluate the nondiscriminatory 
justifications offered, its conclusions are entitled to deference on appeal. 
[Citation.] (People v. Burgener (2003) 29 Cal.4th 833, 864.)”  (Lenix, supra, at 
pp. 613-614.) 

Lenix, in turn relied on its own prior decision in People v. Reynoso (2003) 31 

Cal.4th 903, 

“All that matters is that  the prosecutor’s reason for exercising the 
peremptory challenge is sincere and legitimate, legitimate in the sense of 
being nondiscriminatory. ‘[A] “‘legitimate reason is not a reason that 
makes sense, but a reason that does not deny equal protection. 
[Citations.].”’   ...  “The proper focus of a Batson/Wheeler inquiry, of course, 
is on the subjective genuineness of the race-neutral reasons given for the 
peremptory  challenge, not on  the  objective reasonableness of  those 
reasons.” (Ibid.  924 [italics original].)

C. Question Presented.

As reflected in the Court of Appeal opinion,  California has adopted what 

can most charitably be described as an extremely deferential standard of review 

for Third  Stage Batson determinations by the trial court.   The point of departure 

for California's standard is  this  Court's statement in Hernandez v. New York, 

supra, 500 U.S. 352, that  “[d]eference to trial court findings on the issue of 

discriminatory  intent  makes particular sense in this context because, as we 

noted in Batson, the finding will 'largely turn on evaluation of credibility'. ... There 

will seldom be much evidence bearing on that issue, and the best evidence often 

will be the demeanor of the attorney who exercises the challenge. ...[E]valuation 

of the prosecutor's state of mind based on demeanor and credibility lies 
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'peculiarly within a trial judge's province.' [Citation].” (Id., at p. 365 [italics 

added].)   However, whether  there  is “seldom” any additional evidence other 

than the doe-eyed look of the prosecutor does not mean that there is “never” any 

additional evidence; and this Court has  walked back the sweep of this dictum.   

As previously noted, in Miller–El v. Cockrell, supra, this  Court  instructed that, in 

evaluating  the  credibility of the prosecutor's proffered justifications, “the [trial] 

court must weigh among other factors, the prosecutor’s demeanor; [] how 

reasonable, or how improbable, the explanations are; and whether the proffered 

rationale has some basis in accepted trial strategy.” (Id., at pp. 338-339.)  The 

question thus presented in this petition is whether the Third Stage analysis-

factors set out in  Miller–El v. Cockrell,  require a singular  or  multiple standards 

of review depending on the factor under consideration.   

Although Hernandez's reference to “evaluation of credibility” was cast in a 

unitary mold,  there are two basic components to the Cockrell standard: a 

subjective one (see Snyder v. Louisiana, supra, 552 U.S. 472, 477 [“whether the 

prosecutor's demeanor belies a discriminatory intent”] and an objective one 

(Miller-El, supra, [how reasonable or improbable]). In other words, the word 

“credibility” covers two different things: demeanor credibility, and substance 

credibility.   In addition, the term “credibility” covers those  kinds of credibility 

that relate to reputation or  to a common practice in the trade, both of which are 

also subject to objective corroboration.  

In short, “credibility” is not cut from a single cloth and, given the different 

types of “credibility” involved in the Third Stage Batson inquiry it is erroneous to
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subject Batson claims to a singular standard of review.  Demeanor-based 

determinations are always reviewed deferentially under a clearly erroneous or 

substantial evidence standard.  (Snyder v. Lousiana supra 552 U.S., at p.  479 

[“nervousness cannot be shown from a cold transcript, which is why ... the [trial] 

judge's evaluation must be given much deference.”].)  In practice, this standard is

a virtual rubber stamp because there is very likely no evidence before the 

appellate court to review, unless the trial court specifies that it was persuaded by 

the presence or absence of sweat on the brow, shifty looks, shuffling feet and so 

on; and, should it do so, there is would still be no basis for a reviewing court to 

think otherwise.  However, substance credibility -- the reasonableness, probability 

and/or lawfulness of a reason, is quintessentially a legal question and should 

therefore be subject to de novo review on appeal.   ( Ornelas v. United States (1996) 

517 U.S. 690, 699 [reasonableness  and probable cause  reviewed de novo on 

appeal];  United States v. McConney (9th Cir. 1984) 728 F.2d 1195, 1200-01 [mixed 

deferential/de novo standard of review] ;  People v. Leyba (1981) 29 Cal.3d 591, 

598 [constitutional standard of reasonableness a legal question]; People v. 

Ault (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1250, 1264 and footnote 8 [listing cases].)   As always,  the 

primary facts may be as found by the trial court provided they are supported by 

substantial evidence;  but, in the present context, the “primary facts” are actually 

the reasons volunteered by the prosecutor, and it is unlikely that there will be 

some reason to doubt the existence of those stated reasons.  A trial court ruling 

that stated reasons were reasonable is not a finding of “fact” but a legal 

judgement which can and ought to be reviewed de novo on appeal.  
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In contrast, operating from the premise that the issue is one of “credibility”

and that there is no little or no basis for an appellate court to second guess the 

trial court's determination, the California Supreme Court ended up fashioning 

what is, in effect a two-tiered, rule of good faith, viz.,ˆ

“We presume that a prosecutor uses peremptory challenges in a 
constitutional manner and give great deference to the trial court's ability to
distinguish bona fide reasons from sham excuses. [Citation.] So long as the 
trial court makes a sincere and reasoned effort to evaluate the 
nondiscriminatory justifications offered, its conclusions are entitled to 
deference on appeal. [Citation.]” (People v. Burgener, supra, 29 Cal.4th 833, at
p. 864; People v. Williams (2013) 56 Cal.4th 630, 650 [italics added])

Of course, a “non-discriminatory” reason is  only one that, on its face, does

not openly admit to a racially biased motive.5  Anything will do so long as it is 

not:  “I excused her because she was Hispanic.” 6   “The justification need not 

support a challenge for cause, and even a ‘trivial’ reason, if genuine and neutral, 

will suffice.” (People v. Lenix, supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 613,    “The proper focus ... is 

on the subjective genuineness of the race-neutral reasons given.  (Reynoso, supra,) 

31 Cal.4th  at p. 924, . italics in Reynoso.)

Thus, the issue on appeal becomes whether the trial judge made a “sincere 

5 “All that matters is that the prosecutor’s reason for exercising the peremptory 
challenge is sincere and legitimate, legitimate in the sense of being 
nondiscriminatory. ‘[A] legitimate reason is not a reason that makes sense, but
a reason that does not deny equal protection. [Citations.].’” (People v. Reynoso, 
supra, 31 Cal.4th, at p. 924, quoting Purkett v. Elam (1995) 514 U.S. 765, 769.) 

6 At the Second Stage, the prosecutor has only to “proffer” a reason.  The 
inquiry ends at that point if it concedes that its challenge was racially 
motivated.  Only if it comes up with a non discriminatory motive does the 
inquiry proceed to the Third Stage. (See Johnson v. California, supra, 545 U.S. at 
p. 168.) 
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and reasoned” effort to detect whether the prosecutor was being “genuine” when 

he came up with a facially non-discriminatory reason (howsoever absurd) to 

justify an excusal that was presumably properly made in any event. 7   The result 

is two-layered good-faith inquiry in which the issue of the prosecutor's 

discriminatory intent gets displaced by an inquiry into the trial judge's sincerity 

in handling the issue.  The Court of Appeal can hardly be faulted for saying that 

it was “required” to defer to the trial court so long as it did anything other than 

express a racial animus itself or fall asleep at the bench.  Such a standard, 

however, reduces Batson to a fulmen brutum.

California's exceedingly deferential interpretation of this Court's Batson 

jurisprudence has been strongly criticized by members of the California high 

court and by the state's Legislature itself. 

In People v. Reynoso, supra,  Justice Kennard dissented, arguing that, by 

“indulg[ing]  a presumption that both the prosecutor and the trial court acted 

properly” the majority had “adopt[ed] a standard of appellate review that 

effectively insulates discriminatory strikes from meaningful scrutiny at both the 

trial and appellate stages.” (Id., 31 Cal.4th, at p. 930.)  Reynoso is particularly apt 

here given that the prosecutor's reason for striking an Hispanic juror was that, as 

a “customer service representative" she was insufficiently educated for jury duty, 

7 The use of the word genuine induces a subtle shift from the question of dis-
criminatory intent.    Biases and stereotypes may be unconsciously held.  They
also manifest themselves through different configurations of thought, even if 
sincerely believed.  Similarly, a 'trivial' reason is not the same as an 'improba- 
ble' one.  Objective analysis of intent provides the best balast for the inquiry.
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an excuse which the majority itself conceded was "a dubious notion" ( id. at p. 

925).

The California high court's jurisprudence has also been serially criticized 

by Justice Liu who wrote that  the majority's  interpretation of Batson law 

amounted to a “ 'don't ask, don't tell' approach to appellate review” (People v. Mai

(2013) 57 Cal.4th 986, 1075)   Justice Liu, went on to state that “As demonstrated 

by our repeated quotation and application of Reynoso's rule in case after case, it 

has been easy for the court to find a prosecutor's stated reasons to be inherently 

plausible and either supported or not contradicted by the record, and then to 

defer to the trial court's ruling on that basis. (See, e.g., maj. opn., ante, 161 

Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 55, 59, 305 P.3d at pp. 1220, 1223; Williams, supra,56 Cal.4th at 

pp. 653–659, 156 Cal.Rptr.3d 214, 299 P.3d 1185; People v. Vines (2011) 51 Cal.4th 

830, 849–850, 124 Cal.Rptr.3d 830, 251 P.3d 943; People v. Watson (2008) 43 Cal.4th 

652, 670–673, 76 Cal.Rptr.3d 208, 182 P.3d 543;People v. Guerra (2006) 37 Cal.4th 

1067, 1103, 40 Cal.Rptr.3d 118, 129 P.3d 321.)”  (People v. Mai, supra, 57 Cal.4th, at 

p. 1073.)

Justice Liu also noted that “In adjudicating Batson claims in more than 100 

cases over the past two decades, this court has found unlawful discrimination in 

jury selection only once—and that was a case more than 12 years ago in which 

the prosecutor struck all five Hispanic members of the venire and through his 

own words "revealed an acute sensitivity to the presence of Hispanics on the jury

panel and an evident belief that Hispanics would not be favorable jurors for the 

prosecution.( People v. Silva (2001) 25 Cal.4th 345, 375)”   (People v. Harris (2013) 57
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Cal.4th 804, 865.)  8

On 30 September 2020 the California Racial Justice Act was signed into 

law. (Assembly Bill 2542,  § 2, subd. (c), Ch. 317, Statutes of 2020,  amending 

Penal code §§ 1473 and 1473.7 of, and adding § 745.)  In that act, the Legislature 

found that racism had permeated this State's criminal justice system.  (AB 2542, § 

2, subd. (a).)  It further found, with specified reference to jury selection, that the 

the law, “as interpreted by the high courts,” was woefully inadequate to address 

the problem of mostly prosecutorial abuse of the privilege of peremptory 

challenge. (Id., subd.(c), citing  People v. Bryant, (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 525, 543 

(Humes, J., concurring)).   In so finding the Legislature echoed the above- 

summarized criticisms  by Justices Liu and Kennard.

In petitioner's view, California's evisceration of Batson arises primarily 

from a single minded focus on demeanor credibility.  The demeanor-based 

credibility standard, while not entirely irrelevant, is over-blown, given the fact 

that prosecutors, counsel and police are all professionals who are adept at stating

the most far-fetched propositions with a straight face. They are at ease and adept 

in court and before judges with whom they have worked almost daily. Both at 

trial and on appeal, the analysis  should focus on the reasons given. If reasons are 

8 Petitioner's research has not disclosed any Batson  reversals by the California 
high court since Justice Liu's tabulation, except for a reversal in People v. 
Gutierrez (2017) 2 Cal.5th 1150,  1175 based on the dual ground that the trial 
judge upheld an excusal on a justification not offered by the prosecutor and 
the appellate court had refused to conduct a comparative juror analysis. (Id., at
p. 1175.)  In any event the affirmance rate is so high that a visiting alien might 
be excused for concluding that California jury selection is near impeccable. 
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of no importance, then why ask for them to be proffered in the first place? It 

would be sufficient simply to pull out the Judicial Ouija board and detect whether

counsel is being g-e-n-u-i-n-e or not. 

The Court of Appeal  opinion dismissed petitioner's  arguments as 

“try[ing] to pick apart the prosecutor's reasons.” (Opn. 18 [italics added].)  

Absolutely, appellant did so.  That is the very essence of “analysis,” derived from 

the Greek  “αναλυω. ... to unloose, undo, of Penelope's web. Od.  2. to unloose, to

set free, release .. II ...2. to analyse, Arist. ....” ( Greek-English, Lexicon,  Lidell & 

Scott, Oxford, Clarendon Press, 7th Ed. 1961, pg. 58.)  If an appellate court does 

not pick things apart, what then does it do?  As instructed by California's high 

court, evidently not much. (Mai, supra, 57 Cal.4th, at p. 1075, J. Liu, concurring.) 

In closing, petitioner would take the liberty of observing that the Sixth 

Amendment's guarantee of trial by a popular and irresponsible jury is one of 

three main bulwarks of democratic freedom.  (See Bushell's Case (1670) 124 

Eng.Rep. 1006 [6 Howell's State Trials 999]; Sparf Hansen v. United States, (1895) 156 

U.S. 51, 105; Carpenters v. United States (1947) 330 U.S. 395, 408l; The American Jury

System, (2015) 9 Chicago Kent L. Rev 825, 826.)   The hackneyed saw that the jury 

is a “fact-finder” overlooks the fact that  the jury is “the circuit-breaker in the 

State’s machinery of justice.” (Blakely v. Washington (2004) 542 U. S. 296,  307.)  If 

jury trials were just a question of investigative functions, a more ludicrous 

functionality could not have been devised.  On the contrary, the jury is a political 

institution that represents the community's “collective judgement” on the specific 

matter presented. (See United States v. Powell (1984) 469 U.S. 57, 67.)   It is not a 
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“random sampling” but  the adversarially elected representation of the 

community, in which both parties can repose confidence.  How that election is 

made, as with any election, can never be entirely rationalised.  As all trial lawyers

understand, there must be room for intuition, hunch, feeling. Peremptory 

challenges are critical to the election process and to the jury as we know it.  Their 

abolition would sap the jury's political vitality.   But neither can peremptory 

challenges be used for a constitutionally illicit purpose and something more than 

deferential vigilance  is required to insure that such is not the case.  
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CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons,  petitioner therefore respectfully requests that

his petition for certiorari be granted.   
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AB-2542 Criminal procedure: discrimination. (2019-2020)

Assembly Bill No. 2542

CHAPTER 317

An act to amend Sections 1473 and 1473.7 of, and to add Section 745 to, the Penal Code, relating to

criminal procedure.

[ Approved by Governor September 30, 2020. Filed with Secretary of State
September 30, 2020. ]

LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL'S DIGEST

AB 2542, Kalra. Criminal procedure: discrimination.

Existing law generally prescribes the procedure for the prosecution of persons arrested for committing a crime,
including pleadings, bail, pretrial proceedings, trial, judgment, sentencing, and appeals. Existing law allows a
person who is unlawfully imprisoned or restrained of their liberty to prosecute a writ of habeas corpus to inquire
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into the cause of their imprisonment or restraint. Existing law allows a writ of habeas corpus to be prosecuted for,
among other things, relief based on the use of false evidence that is substantially material or probative to the
issue of guilt or punishment that was introduced at trial.

This bill would prohibit the state from seeking a criminal conviction or sentence on the basis of race, ethnicity, or
national origin, as specified. The bill would allow a writ of habeas corpus to be prosecuted on the basis of that
prohibition, and would require the defendant to appear at the evidentiary hearing by video unless their presence
in court is  needed. The bill  would permit  a defendant to file a motion requesting disclosure of  all  evidence
relevant to a potential violation of that prohibition that is in the possession or control of the prosecutor and would
require a court, upon a showing of good cause, to order those records to be released. The bill would authorize a
court that finds a violation of that prohibition to impose a remedy specified in the bill. The bill would apply its
provisions to adjudications and dispositions in the juvenile delinquency system. The bill would apply its provisions
only prospectively to cases in which judgment has not been entered prior to January 1, 2021.

Existing law creates an explicit right for a person no longer imprisoned or restrained to file a motion to vacate a
conviction or  sentence based on a  prejudicial  error  damaging to  the moving party’s  ability  to  meaningfully
understand, defend against, or knowingly accept the actual or potential adverse immigration consequences of a
plea of guilty or nolo contendere, or based on newly discovered evidence of actual innocence, as specified.

This bill would additionally allow for a person no longer imprisoned or restrained to file a motion to vacate a
conviction or sentence based on a conviction or sentence that was sought, obtained, or imposed on the basis of
race, ethnicity, or national origin in violation of the bill’s provisions.

This bill would state that its provisions are severable.

Vote: majority  Appropriation: no  Fiscal Committee: yes  Local Program: no

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1. This act shall be known and may be cited as the California Racial Justice Act of 2020.

SEC. 2. The Legislature finds and declares all of the following:

(a) Discrimination in our criminal justice system based on race, ethnicity, or national origin (hereafter “race” or
“racial bias”) has a deleterious effect not only on individual criminal defendants but on our system of justice as a
whole. The United States Supreme Court has said: “Discrimination on the basis of race, odious in all respects, is
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especially pernicious in the administration of  justice.” (Rose v. Mitchell,  443 U.S. 545, 556 (1979) (quoting
Ballard v. United States, 329 U.S. 187, 195 (1946))). The United States Supreme Court has also recognized “the
impact of … evidence [of racial bias] cannot be measured simply by how much air time it received at trial or how
many pages it occupies in the record. Some toxins can be deadly in small doses.” (Buck v. Davis, 137 S. Ct. 759,
777 (2017)). Discrimination undermines public confidence in the fairness of the state’s system of justice and
deprives Californians of equal justice under law.

(b) A United States Supreme Court Justice has observed, “[t]he way to stop discrimination on the basis of race is
to  speak openly and candidly  on the subject  of  race,  and to apply  the Constitution with eyes open to the
unfortunate effects of centuries of racial  discrimination.” (Schuette v. Coalition to Defend Affirmative Action,
Integration and Immigrant Rights and Fight for Equality By Any Means Necessary, 572 U.S. 291, 380-81 (2014)
(Sotomayor, J., dissenting)). We cannot simply accept the stark reality that race pervades our system of justice.
Rather, we must acknowledge and seek to remedy that reality and create a fair system of justice that upholds
our democratic ideals.

(c) Even though racial bias is widely acknowledged as intolerable in our criminal justice system, it nevertheless
persists because courts generally only address racial bias in its most extreme and blatant forms. More and more
judges in California and across the country are recognizing that current law, as interpreted by the high courts, is
insufficient to address discrimination in our justice system. (State v. Saintcalle, 178 Wash. 2d 34, 35 (2013); Ellis
v. Harrison, 891 F.3rd 1160, 1166-67 (9th Cir. 2018) (Nguyen, J., concurring), reh’g en banc granted Jan. 30,
2019; Turner v. Murray, 476 U.S. 28, 35 (1986); People v. Bryant, 40 Cal.App.5th 525 (2019) (Humes, J.,
concurring)). Even when racism clearly infects a criminal proceeding, under current legal precedent, proof of
purposeful discrimination is often required, but nearly impossible to establish. For example, one justice on the
California Court of Appeals recently observed the legal standards for preventing racial bias in jury selection are
ineffective, observing that “requiring a showing of purposeful discrimination sets a high standard that is difficult
to prove in any context.” (Bryant, 40 Cal.App.5th 525 (Humes, J., concurring)).

(d)  Current  legal  precedent  often  results  in  courts  sanctioning  racism in  criminal  trials.  Existing  precedent
countenances racially biased testimony, including expert testimony, and arguments in criminal trials. A court
upheld a conviction based in part on an expert’s racist testimony that people of Indian descent are predisposed to
commit bribery.  (United States v.  Shah, 768 Fed. Appx.  637, 640 (9th Cir.  2019)).  Existing precedent has
provided no recourse for a defendant whose own attorney harbors racial animus towards the defendant’s racial
group, or toward the defendant, even where the attorney routinely used racist language and “harbor[ed] deep
and utter contempt” for the defendant’s racial group (Mayfield v. Woodford, 270 F.3d 915, 924-25 (9th Cir. 2001)
(en banc); id. at 939-40 (Graber, J., dissenting)). Existing precedent holds that appellate courts must defer to
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the rulings of judges who make racially biased comments during jury selection. (People v. Williams, 56 Cal. 4th
630, 652 (2013); see also id. at 700 (Liu, J., concurring)).

(e) Existing precedent tolerates the use of racially incendiary or racially coded language, images, and racial
stereotypes in criminal  trials.  For example, courts have upheld convictions in cases where prosecutors have
compared defendants who are people of color to Bengal tigers and other animals, even while acknowledging that
such statements are “highly offensive and inappropriate” (Duncan v. Ornoski, 286 Fed. Appx. 361, 363 (9th Cir.
2008); see also People v. Powell, 6 Cal.5th 136, 182-83 (2018)). Because use of animal imagery is historically
associated with racism, use of animal imagery in reference to a defendant is racially discriminatory and should
not be permitted in our court system (Phillip Atiba Goff, Jennifer L. Eberhardt, Melissa J. Williams, and Matthew
Christian  Jackson,  Not  Yet  Human:  Implicit  Knowledge,  Historical  Dehumanization,  and  Contemporary
Consequences, Journal of Personality and Social Psychology (2008) Vol. 94, No. 2, 292-293; Praatika Prasad,
Implicit Racial Biases in Prosecutorial Summations: Proposing an Integrated Response, 86 Fordham Law Review,
Volume 86, Issue 6, Article 24 3091, 3105-06 (2018)).

(f) Existing precedent also accepts racial disparities in our criminal justice system as inevitable. Most famously, in
1987, the United States Supreme Court found that there was “a discrepancy that appears to correlate with race”
in death penalty cases in Georgia, but the court would not intervene without proof of a discriminatory purpose,
concluding that we must simply accept these disparities as “an inevitable part of our criminal justice system”
(McCleskey v. Kemp, 481 U.S. 279, 295-99, 312 (1987)). In dissent, one Justice described this as “a fear of too
much justice” (Id. at p. 339 (Brennan, J., dissenting)).

(g) Current law, as interpreted by the courts,  stands in sharp contrast  to this  Legislature’s  commitment to
“ameliorate bias-based injustice in the courtroom” subdivision (b) of Section 1 of Chapter 418 of the Statutes of
2019 (Assembly Bill  242). The Legislature has acknowledged that all  persons possess implicit  biases (Id. at
Section  1(a)(1)),  that  these  biases  impact  the  criminal  justice  system (Id.  at  Section  (1)(a)(5)),  and  that
negative implicit biases tend to disfavor people of color (Id. at Section (1)(a)(3)-(4)). In California in 2020, we
can no longer accept racial discrimination and racial disparities as inevitable in our criminal justice system and we
must act to make clear that this discrimination and these disparities are illegal  and will  not be tolerated in
California, both prospectively and retroactively.

(h) There is growing awareness that no degree or amount of racial bias is tolerable in a fair and just criminal
justice system, that racial bias is often insidious, and that purposeful discrimination is often masked and racial
animus disguised. The examples described here are but a few select instances of intolerable racism infecting
decisionmaking in the criminal justice system. Examples of the racism that pervades the criminal justice system
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are too numerous to list.

(i) It is the intent of the Legislature to eliminate racial bias from California’s criminal justice system because
racism in any form or amount, at any stage of a criminal trial, is intolerable, inimical to a fair criminal justice
system, is a miscarriage of justice under Article VI of the California Constitution, and violates the laws and
Constitution of the State of California. Implicit bias, although often unintentional and unconscious, may inject
racism and unfairness into proceedings similar to intentional bias. The intent of the Legislature is not to punish
this type of bias, but rather to remedy the harm to the defendant’s case and to the integrity of the judicial
system. It  is  the  intent  of  the  Legislature  to  ensure  that  race plays  no role  at  all  in  seeking or  obtaining
convictions or in sentencing. It is the intent of the Legislature to reject the conclusion that racial disparities within
our criminal justice are inevitable, and to actively work to eradicate them.

(j)  It  is  the  further  intent  of  the  Legislature  to  provide  remedies  that  will  eliminate  racially  discriminatory
practices in the criminal justice system, in addition to intentional discrimination. It is the further intent of the
Legislature  to  ensure  that  individuals  have  access  to  all  relevant  evidence,  including  statistical  evidence,
regarding potential discrimination in seeking or obtaining convictions or imposing sentences.

SEC. 3. Section 745 is added to the Penal Code, immediately following Section 740, to read:

745. (a) The state shall not seek or obtain a criminal conviction or seek, obtain, or impose a sentence on the basis
of race, ethnicity, or national origin. A violation is established if the defendant proves, by a preponderance of the
evidence, any of the following:

(1) The judge, an attorney in the case, a law enforcement officer involved in the case, an expert witness, or juror
exhibited bias or animus towards the defendant because of the defendant’s race, ethnicity, or national origin.

(2) During the defendant’s trial, in court and during the proceedings, the judge, an attorney in the case, a law
enforcement officer involved in the case, an expert witness, or juror, used racially discriminatory language about
the defendant’s race, ethnicity, or national origin, or otherwise exhibited bias or animus towards the defendant
because of the defendant’s race, ethnicity, or national origin, whether or not purposeful. This paragraph does not
apply if the person speaking is describing language used by another that is relevant to the case or if the person
speaking is giving a racially neutral and unbiased physical description of the suspect.

(3) Race, ethnicity, or national origin was a factor in the exercise of peremptory challenges. The defendant need
not show that purposeful discrimination occurred in the exercise of peremptory challenges to demonstrate a
violation of subdivision (a).
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(4) The defendant was charged or convicted of a more serious offense than defendants of other races, ethnicities,
or national origins who commit similar offenses and are similarly situated, and the evidence establishes that the
prosecution more frequently sought or obtained convictions for more serious offenses against people who share
the defendant’s race, ethnicity, or national origin in the county where the convictions were sought or obtained.

(5) (A) A longer or more severe sentence was imposed on the defendant than was imposed on other similarly
situated individuals convicted of the same offense, and longer or more severe sentences were more frequently
imposed  for  that  offense  on  people  that  share  the  defendant’s  race,  ethnicity,  or  national  origin  than  on
defendants of other races, ethnicities, or national origins in the county where the sentence was imposed.

(B) A longer or more severe sentence was imposed on the defendant than was imposed on other similarly
situated individuals convicted of the same offense, and longer or more severe sentences were more frequently
imposed for the same offense on defendants in cases with victims of one race, ethnicity, or national origin than in
cases with victims of other races, ethnicities, or national origins, in the county where the sentence was imposed.

(b) A defendant may file a motion in the trial court or, if judgment has been imposed, may file a petition for writ
of habeas corpus or a motion under Section 1473.7 in a court of competent jurisdiction, alleging a violation of
subdivision (a).

(c)  If  a  motion is  filed in  the trial  court  and the defendant makes a prima facie  showing of  a violation of
subdivision (a), the trial court shall hold a hearing.

(1) At the hearing, evidence may be presented by either party, including, but not limited to, statistical evidence,
aggregate  data,  expert  testimony,  and  the  sworn  testimony  of  witnesses.  The  court  may  also  appoint  an
independent expert.

(2) The defendant shall have the burden of proving a violation of subdivision (a) by a preponderance of the
evidence.

(3) At the conclusion of the hearing, the court shall make findings on the record.

(d) A defendant may file a motion requesting disclosure to the defense of all evidence relevant to a potential
violation of subdivision (a) in the possession or control of the state. A motion filed under this subdivision shall
describe the type of records or information the defendant seeks. Upon a showing of good cause, and if the
records are not privileged, the court shall order the records to be released. Upon a showing of good cause, the
court may permit the prosecution to redact information prior to disclosure.
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(e) Notwithstanding any other law, except for an initiative approved by the voters,  if  the court  finds,  by a
preponderance of evidence, a violation of subdivision (a), the court shall impose a remedy specific to the violation
found from the following list of remedies:

(1) Before a judgment has been entered, the court may impose any of the following remedies:

(A) Reseat a juror removed by use of a peremptory challenge.

(B) Declare a mistrial, if requested by the defendant.

(C) Discharge the jury panel and empanel a new jury.

(D)  If  the  court  determines  that  it  would  be  in  the  interest  of  justice,  dismiss  enhancements,  special
circumstances, or special allegations, or reduce one or more charges.

(2) (A) When a judgment has been entered, if  the court finds that a conviction was sought or obtained in
violation of subdivision (a), the court shall vacate the conviction and sentence, find that it is legally invalid, and
order new proceedings consistent with subdivision (a). If the court finds that the only violation of subdivision (a)
that occurred is based on paragraph (4) of subdivision (a) and the court has the ability to rectify the violation by
modifying the judgment, the court shall vacate the conviction and sentence, find that the conviction is legally
invalid,  and  modify  the  judgment  to  impose  an  appropriate  remedy  for  the  violation  that  occurred.  On
resentencing, the court shall not impose a new sentence greater than that previously imposed.

(B) When a judgment has been entered, if  the court finds that only the sentence was sought, obtained, or
imposed in violation of subdivision (a), the court shall vacate the sentence, find that it is legally invalid, and
impose a new sentence. On resentencing, the court shall not impose a new sentence greater than that previously
imposed.

(3) When the court finds there has been a violation of subdivision (a), the defendant shall not be eligible for the
death penalty.

(4) The remedies available under this section do not foreclose any other remedies available under the United
States Constitution, the California Constitution, or any other law.

(f) This section also applies to adjudications and dispositions in the juvenile delinquency system.

(g)  This  section  shall  not  prevent  the  prosecution  of  hate  crimes  pursuant  to  Sections  422.6  to  422.865,
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inclusive.

(h) As used in this section, the following definitions apply:

(1)  “More  frequently  sought  or  obtained”  or  “more  frequently  imposed”  means  that  statistical  evidence  or
aggregate data demonstrate a significant difference in seeking or obtaining convictions or in imposing sentences
comparing  individuals  who have committed  similar  offenses  and are  similarly  situated,  and the  prosecution
cannot establish race-neutral reasons for the disparity.

(2)  “Prima facie  showing”  means  that  the  defendant  produces  facts  that,  if  true,  establish  that  there  is  a
substantial likelihood that a violation of subdivision (a) occurred. For purposes of this section, a “substantial
likelihood” requires more than a mere possibility, but less than a standard of more likely than not.

(3) “Racially  discriminatory language” means language that,  to an objective observer,  explicitly  or  implicitly
appeals to racial bias, including, but not limited to, racially charged or racially coded language, language that
compares the defendant to an animal, or language that references the defendant’s physical appearance, culture,
ethnicity, or national origin. Evidence that particular words or images are used exclusively or disproportionately in
cases where the defendant is of a specific race, ethnicity, or national origin is relevant to determining whether
language is discriminatory.

(4) “State” includes the Attorney General, a district attorney, or a city prosecutor.

(i) A defendant may share a race, ethnicity, or national origin with more than one group. A defendant may
aggregate data among groups to demonstrate a violation of subdivision (a).

(j) This section applies only prospectively in cases in which judgment has not been entered prior to January 1,
2021.

SEC. 3.5. Section 745 is added to the Penal Code, immediately following Section 740, to read:

745. (a) The state shall not seek or obtain a criminal conviction or seek, obtain, or impose a sentence on the basis
of race, ethnicity, or national origin. A violation is established if the defendant proves, by a preponderance of the
evidence, any of the following:

(1) The judge, an attorney in the case, a law enforcement officer involved in the case, an expert witness, or juror
exhibited bias or animus towards the defendant because of the defendant’s race, ethnicity, or national origin.
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(2)  During the defendant’s trial, in court and during the proceedings, the judge, an attorney in the case, a law
enforcement officer involved in the case, an expert witness, or juror, used racially discriminatory language about
the defendant’s race, ethnicity, or national origin, or otherwise exhibited bias or animus towards the defendant
because of the defendant’s race, ethnicity, or national origin, whether or not purposeful. This paragraph does not
apply if the person speaking is describing language used by another that is relevant to the case or if the person
speaking is giving a racially neutral and unbiased physical description of the suspect.

(3) The defendant was charged or convicted of a more serious offense than defendants of other races, ethnicities,
or national origins who commit similar offenses and are similarly situated, and the evidence establishes that the
prosecution more frequently sought or obtained convictions for more serious offenses against people who share
the defendant’s race, ethnicity, or national origin in the county where the convictions were sought or obtained.

(4) (A) A longer or more severe sentence was imposed on the defendant than was imposed on other similarly
situated individuals convicted of the same offense, and longer or more severe sentences were more frequently
imposed  for  that  offense  on  people  that  share  the  defendant’s  race,  ethnicity,  or  national  origin  than  on
defendants of other races, ethnicities, or national origins in the county where the sentence was imposed.

(B) A longer or more severe sentence was imposed on the defendant than was imposed on other similarly
situated individuals convicted of the same offense, and longer or more severe sentences were more frequently
imposed for the same offense on defendants in cases with victims of one race, ethnicity, or national origin than in
cases with victims of other races, ethnicities, or national origins, in the county where the sentence was imposed.

(b) A defendant may file a motion in the trial court or, if judgment has been imposed, may file a petition for writ
of habeas corpus or a motion under Section 1473.7 in a court of competent jurisdiction, alleging a violation of
subdivision (a).

(c)  If  a  motion is  filed in  the trial  court  and the defendant makes a prima facie  showing of  a violation of
subdivision (a), the trial court shall hold a hearing.

(1) At the hearing, evidence may be presented by either party, including, but not limited to, statistical evidence,
aggregate  data,  expert  testimony,  and  the  sworn  testimony  of  witnesses.  The  court  may  also  appoint  an
independent expert.

(2) The defendant shall have the burden of proving a violation of subdivision (a) by a preponderance of the
evidence.
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(3) At the conclusion of the hearing, the court shall make findings on the record.

(d) A defendant may file a motion requesting disclosure to the defense of all evidence relevant to a potential
violation of subdivision (a) in the possession or control  of the state. A motion filed under this section shall
describe the type of records or information the defendant seeks. Upon a showing of good cause, the court shall
order the records to be released. Upon a showing of good cause, and if the records are not privileged, the court
may permit the prosecution to redact information prior to disclosure.

(e) Notwithstanding any other law, except for an initiative approved by the voters,  if  the court  finds,  by a
preponderance of evidence, a violation of subdivision (a), the court shall impose a remedy specific to the violation
found from the following list:

(1) Before a judgment has been entered, the court may impose any of the following remedies:

(A) Declare a mistrial, if requested the by defendant.

(B) Discharge the jury panel and empanel a new jury.

(C)  If  the  court  determines  that  it  would  be  in  the  interest  of  justice,  dismiss  enhancements,  special
circumstances, or special allegations, or reduce one or more charges.

(2) (A) When a judgment has been entered, if  the court finds that a conviction was sought or obtained in
violation of subdivision (a), the court shall vacate the conviction and sentence, find that it is legally invalid, and
order new proceedings consistent with subdivision (a). If the court finds that the only violation of subdivision (a)
that occurred is based on paragraph (3) of subdivision (a) and the court has the ability to rectify the violation by
modifying the judgment, the court shall vacate the conviction and sentence, find that the conviction is legally
invalid,  and  modify  the  judgment  to  impose  an  appropriate  remedy  for  the  violation  that  occurred.  On
resentencing, the court shall not impose a new sentence greater than that previously imposed.

(B) When a judgment has been entered, if  the court finds that only the sentence was sought, obtained, or
imposed in violation of subdivision (a), the court shall vacate the sentence, find that it is legally invalid, and
impose a new sentence. On resentencing, the court shall not impose a new sentence greater than that previously
imposed.

(3) When the court finds there has been a violation of subdivision (a), the defendant shall not be eligible for the
death penalty.
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(4) The remedies available under this section do not foreclose any other remedies available under the United
States Constitution, the California Constitution, or any other law.

(f) This section also applies to adjudications and dispositions in the juvenile delinquency system.

(g)  This  section  shall  not  prevent  the  prosecution  of  hate  crimes  pursuant  to  Sections  422.6  to  422.865,
inclusive.

(h) As used in this section, the following definitions apply:

(1)  “More  frequently  sought  or  obtained”  or  “more  frequently  imposed”  means  that  statistical  evidence  or
aggregate data demonstrate a significant difference in seeking or obtaining convictions or in imposing sentences
comparing  individuals  who have committed  similar  offenses  and are  similarly  situated,  and the  prosecution
cannot establish race-neutral reasons for the disparity.

(2)  “Prima facie  showing”  means  that  the  defendant  produces  facts  that,  if  true,  establish  that  there  is  a
substantial likelihood that a violation of subdivision (a) occurred. For purposes of this section, a “substantial
likelihood” requires more than a mere possibility, but less than a standard of more likely than not.

(3) “Racially  discriminatory language” means language that,  to an objective observer,  explicitly  or  implicitly
appeals to racial bias, including, but not limited to, racially charged or racially coded language, language that
compares the defendant to an animal, or language that references the defendant’s physical appearance, culture,
ethnicity, or national origin. Evidence that particular words or images are used exclusively or disproportionately in
cases where the defendant is of a specific race, ethnicity, or national origin is relevant to determining whether
language is discriminatory.

(4) “State” includes the Attorney General, a district attorney, or a city prosecutor.

(i) A defendant may share a race, ethnicity, or national origin with more than one group. A defendant may
aggregate data among groups to demonstrate a violation of subdivision (a).

(j) This section applies only prospectively in cases in which judgment has not been entered prior to January 1,
2021.

SEC. 4. Section 1473 of the Penal Code is amended to read:

1473. (a) A person unlawfully imprisoned or restrained of their liberty, under any pretense, may prosecute a writ
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of habeas corpus to inquire into the cause of the imprisonment or restraint.

(b) A writ of habeas corpus may be prosecuted for, but not limited to, the following reasons:

(1) False evidence that is substantially material or probative on the issue of guilt or punishment was introduced
against a person at a hearing or trial relating to the person’s incarceration.

(2) False physical evidence, believed by a person to be factual, probative, or material on the issue of guilt, which
was known by the person at the time of entering a plea of guilty, which was a material factor directly related to
the plea of guilty by the person.

(3) (A) New evidence exists that is credible, material, presented without substantial delay, and of such decisive
force and value that it would have more likely than not changed the outcome at trial.

(B) For purposes of this section, “new evidence” means evidence that has been discovered after trial, that could
not  have been discovered prior  to  trial  by the exercise of  due diligence,  and is  admissible  and not  merely
cumulative, corroborative, collateral, or impeaching.

(c) Any allegation that the prosecution knew or should have known of the false nature of the evidence referred to
in paragraphs (1) and (2) of subdivision (b) is immaterial to the prosecution of a writ of habeas corpus brought
pursuant to paragraph (1) or (2) of subdivision (b).

(d) This section does not limit the grounds for which a writ of habeas corpus may be prosecuted or preclude the
use of any other remedies.

(e)  (1)  For  purposes  of  this  section,  “false  evidence”  includes  opinions  of  experts  that  have  either  been
repudiated by the expert who originally provided the opinion at a hearing or trial or that have been undermined
by later scientific research or technological advances.

(2)  This  section  does  not  create  additional  liabilities,  beyond  those  already  recognized,  for  an  expert  who
repudiates the original opinion provided at a hearing or trial or whose opinion has been undermined by later
scientific research or technological advancements.

(f) Notwithstanding any other law, a writ of habeas corpus may also be prosecuted after judgment has been
entered based on evidence that a criminal conviction or sentence was sought, obtained, or imposed in violation of
subdivision (a) of Section 745 if judgment was entered on or after January 1, 2021. A petition raising a claim of
this nature for the first time, or on the basis of new discovery provided by the state or other new evidence that
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could not have been previously known by the petitioner with due diligence, shall not be deemed a successive or
abusive petition. If the petitioner has a habeas corpus petition pending in state court, but it has not yet been
decided, the petitioner may amend the existing petition with a claim that the petitioner’s conviction or sentence
was sought, obtained, or imposed in violation of subdivision (a) of Section 745. The petition shall state if the
petitioner requests appointment of counsel and the court shall appoint counsel if the petitioner cannot afford
counsel and either the petition alleges facts that would establish a violation of subdivision (a) of Section 745 or
the State Public Defender requests counsel be appointed. Newly appointed counsel may amend a petition filed
before their appointment. The court shall review a petition raising a claim pursuant to Section 745 and shall
determine if the petitioner has made a prima facie showing of entitlement to relief. If the petitioner makes a
prima facie showing that the petitioner is entitled to relief, the court shall issue an order to show cause why relief
shall not be granted and hold an evidentiary hearing, unless the state declines to show cause. The defendant
shall appear at the hearing by video unless counsel indicates that their presence in court is needed. If the court
determines that the petitioner has not established a prima facie showing of entitlement to relief, the court shall
state the factual and legal basis for its conclusion on the record or issue a written order detailing the factual and
legal basis for its conclusion.

SEC. 5. Section 1473.7 of the Penal Code is amended to read:

1473.7. (a) A person who is no longer in criminal custody may file a motion to vacate a conviction or sentence for
any of the following reasons:

(1) The conviction or sentence is legally invalid due to prejudicial error damaging the moving party’s ability to
meaningfully  understand,  defend  against,  or  knowingly  accept  the  actual  or  potential  adverse  immigration
consequences of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. A finding of legal invalidity may, but need not, include a
finding of ineffective assistance of counsel.

(2) Newly discovered evidence of actual innocence exists that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence as a
matter of law or in the interests of justice.

(3) A conviction or sentence was sought, obtained, or imposed on the basis of race, ethnicity, or national origin in
violation of subdivision (a) of Section 745.

(b) (1) Except as provided in paragraph (2), a motion pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) shall be
deemed timely filed at any time in which the individual filing the motion is no longer in criminal custody.
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(2) A motion pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) may be deemed untimely filed if it was not filed with
reasonable diligence after the later of the following:

(A)  The  moving  party  receives  a  notice  to  appear  in  immigration  court  or  other  notice  from  immigration
authorities that asserts the conviction or sentence as a basis for removal or the denial of an application for an
immigration benefit, lawful status, or naturalization.

(B) Notice that a final removal order has been issued against the moving party, based on the existence of the
conviction or sentence that the moving party seeks to vacate.

(c) A motion pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (a) shall be filed without undue delay from the date
the moving party discovered, or could have discovered with the exercise of due diligence, the evidence that
provides a basis for relief under this section or Section 745.

(d) All motions shall be entitled to a hearing. Upon the request of the moving party, the court may hold the
hearing without the personal presence of the moving party provided that it finds good cause as to why the
moving party cannot be present. If the prosecution has no objection to the motion, the court may grant the
motion to vacate the conviction or sentence without a hearing.

(e) When ruling on the motion:

(1) The court shall grant the motion to vacate the conviction or sentence if the moving party establishes, by a
preponderance of the evidence, the existence of any of the grounds for relief specified in subdivision (a). For a
motion  made  pursuant  to  paragraph  (1)  of  subdivision  (a),  the  moving  party  shall  also  establish  that  the
conviction or sentence being challenged is currently causing or has the potential to cause removal or the denial of
an application for an immigration benefit, lawful status, or naturalization.

(2) There is a presumption of legal invalidity for the purposes of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) if the moving
party pleaded guilty or nolo contendere pursuant to a statute that provided that, upon completion of specific
requirements,  the  arrest  and conviction  shall  be  deemed never  to  have occurred,  where  the  moving  party
complied with these requirements, and where the disposition under the statute has been, or potentially could be,
used as a basis for adverse immigration consequences.

(3) If the court grants the motion to vacate a conviction or sentence obtained through a plea of guilty or nolo
contendere, the court shall allow the moving party to withdraw the plea.

(4) When ruling on a motion under paragraph (1) of subdivision (a), the only finding that the court is required to
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make is whether the conviction is legally invalid due to prejudicial error damaging the moving party’s ability to
meaningfully  understand,  defend  against,  or  knowingly  accept  the  actual  or  potential  adverse  immigration
consequences of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere. When ruling on a motion under paragraph (2) of subdivision
(a), the court shall specify the basis for its conclusion.

(f) An order granting or denying the motion is appealable under subdivision (b) of Section 1237 as an order after
judgment affecting the substantial rights of a party.

(g) A court may only issue a specific finding of ineffective assistance of counsel as a result of a motion brought
under paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) if the attorney found to be ineffective was given timely advance notice of
the motion hearing by the moving party or the prosecutor, pursuant to Section 416.90 of the Code of Civil
Procedure.

SEC. 6. The provisions of this act are severable. If any provision of this act or its application is held invalid, that
invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications that can be given effect without the invalid provision or
application.

SEC. 7.  Section 3.5 of  this  bill  shall  only become operative if  Assembly Bill  3070 is  enacted and becomes
effective on or before January 1, 2021, in which case Section 3 of this bill shall not become operative.
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